IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Tallahassee, Florida

CASE NO. 68,281

EDMUND CARL BANKSTON and MARY BANKSTON, his wife, and LORI BANKSTON, a minor child,

Petitioners,

vs.

(DCA-4 NO. 85-427)

FRANCIS J. BRENNAN, JR., BRIAN FRANCIS BRENNAN and STEVEN LADIKA,

Respondents.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts are contained in the Third Amended Complaint (R 233). It was alleged that defendants gave a party and invited Brian Brennan, whom they knew was a minor. They knowingly furnished Brennan alcoholic beverages, as a result of which he became intoxicated, drove a motor vehicle, and injured plaintiff. Plaintiff sued defendants for damages and the trial court dismissed for failure to state a cause of action (R 255).

Plaintiff appealed to the Fourth District which affirmed but certified the question as one of great public importance (A 1).

CERTIFIED QUESTION

DOES SECTION 768.125, FLORIDA STATUTES, CREATE A CAUSE OF ACTION, AGAINST A SOCIAL HOST, AND IN FAVOR OF A PERSON INJURED BY AN INTOXICATED MINOR WHO WAS SERVED ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES BY THE SOCIAL HOST?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 768.125, Florida Statutes, provides that "... a person who willfully and unlawfully sells or furnishes alcoholic beverages to a person who is not of lawful drinking age ... may become liable for injury or damages caused by or resulting from the intoxication of such minor or person." This statute provides a cause of action where a social host knowingly furnishes a minor alcohol and a third party is injured as a result of the minor's driving while intoxicated.

Even if this court determines the statutes does not create a cause of action in this case, this court should follow the trend in other jurisdictions and hold that one who knowingly furnishes alcohol to a minor is liable under ordinary principles of negligence.

ARGUMENT

CERTIFIED QUESTION

DOES SECTION 768.125, FLORIDA STATUTES, CREATE A CAUSE OF ACTION, AGAINST A SOCIAL HOST, AND IN FAVOR OF A PERSON INJURED BY AN INTOXICATED MINOR WHO WAS SERVED ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES BY THE SOCIAL HOST?

Section 768.125 provides:

A person who sells or furnishes alcoholic beverages to a person of lawful drinking age shall not thereby become liable for injury or damage caused by or resulting from the intoxication of such person, except that a person who willfully and unlawfully sells or furnishes alcoholic beverages to a person who is not of lawful drinking age or who knowingly serves a person habitually addicted to the use of any or all alcoholic beverages may become liable for injury or damage caused by or resulting from the intoxication of such minor or person. (Emphasis added)

The complaint alleged that the defendants "knowingly, willingly and intentionally furnished alcoholic beverages to Brian Francis Brennan, who they knew, or should have known, was a minor under the age of 18."

The trial judge and the Fourth District felt compelled to dismiss the case because of this court's decisions in Armstrong v. Munford, Inc., 451 So.2d 480 (Fla. 1984), and Migliore v. Crown Liquors of Broward, Inc., 448 So.2d 978 (Fla. 1984). At the conclusion of the hearing on

defendants' motion to dismiss (R 259-279), the trial judge stated that he hoped he was reversed, that he wished the law was to the contrary, that there should be a cause of action, but he felt bound by this Court's language in the above cases.

In <u>Migliore v. Crown Liquors of Broward, Inc.</u>, supra, plaintiff was injured in an automobile accident by a 17-year old who was driving while intoxicated. Plaintiff sued Crown Liquors alleging that it sold the minor liquor without asking for identification, resulted in him becoming intoxicated and causing the accident. The statute on which we rely, Section 768.125, was not in effect at the time of the accident in <u>Migliore</u>, however in dicta this Court stated on page 980 of Migliore:

Moreover, contrary to the Fourth District's holding in the present case that section 768.125 creates a cause of action for third persons against dispensers of intoxicants for injuries by intoxicated minors, we find that section 768.125 is a limitation on the liability of vendors of intoxicating beverages. (Emphasis added)

Defendants have successfully argued that based on the above, Section 768.125 only applies to vendors. We submit this is a misinterpretation of the language in that opinion.

Migliore involved a vendor, not a social host. In discussing the liability of a vendor it was only natural for

this Court to say that the statute is a limitation of "liability of vendors", because vendors previously had greater liability, as this court noted in Armstrong, supra.

In <u>Armstrong v. Munford, Inc.</u>, there was no allegation that the selling or furnishing of the alcoholic beverage to the minor was done willfully. In <u>Armstrong</u> the accident occurred after the effective date of Section 768.125. This Court stated on page 481:

In our recent decisions of Migliore and Barber, we held that prior to the effective date of section 768.125, a third party who could establish proximate causation for his injuries did have a cause of action against the person who furnished alcoholic beverages to a minor in violation of section 562.11. We also stated, however, that although section 768.125 did not create a cause of action for third persons against dispensers of intoxicants for injuries caused by intoxicated minors, it does constitute a limitation on the already existing liability of vendors of intoxicating beverages. The district court correctly held that section 768.125 requires selling or furnishing of the the alcoholic beverage must be done willfully. Section 768.125 controls in those arising after its effective date. (Emphasis added)

Armstrong also involved a vendor, not a social host.

The language of this Court in both Armstrong and Migliore thus relates only to vendors of alcoholic beverages, because vendors had a pre-existing liability for

selling alcohol to minors under Section 562.11, Florida Statutes. This is why this Court stated that the subsequently enacted Section 768.125 constituted a limitation on the pre-existing liability of vendors. Neither of the cases dealt with social hosts, and the language of Section 768.125 is not limited to vendors or sales. The statute makes a "person who willfully and unlawfully sells or furnishes" liable. Unlike Section 562.11 (the pre-existing liability) which is applicable only to "licensed premises" there is no such limitation in Section 768.125.

That this statute created additional remedies was recognized by the First District in Barnes v. B. K. Credit Service, Inc., 461 So.2d 217 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), wherein a 20-year old was killed in an accident after she drove while drinking, and her mother brought a wrongful death action against the bar that served her. Since her daughter was not a minor, the mother alleged that Section 768.125 was unconstitutional, denying equal protection because it gave a remedy where a minor was involved but not to an adult. It was also argued that the statute was unconstitutional as denying access to the courts to adults. The First District rejected that argument, stating on page 221:

... As stated earlier, Florida law has not recognized a cause of action against a furnisher of intoxicants for injuries sustained as a result of an intoxicated adult,

because it has observed the common law rule of non-liability. By enacting section 768.125, the legislature did not abolish a right to redress for an injury, it created one. We therefore hold that section 768.125 does not deny access to courts. (Emphasis added)

Defendant also argued in the lower court that the furnishing of alcoholic beverages had to be done "willfully and unlawfully" and that it was not done unlawfully under the facts alleged. This is not true. It is clearly against the law to furnish a minor with alcoholic beverages, and this was alleged in the complaint. Section 562.111 provides:

It is unlawful for any person under the age of 19 years, except a person employed under the provisions of s. 562.13 acting in the scope of his employment, to have in his possession alcoholic beverages,

It is thus clearly a misdemeanor for a minor to possess alcoholic beverages.

Section 777.011 provides:

Whoever commits any criminal offense against the state, whether felony or misdemeanor, or aids, abets, counsels, hires, or otherwise procures such offense to be committed, and such offense is committed or is attempted to be committed, is a principal in the first degree and may be charged, convicted, and punished as such, whether he is or is not actually or constructively present at the commission of such offense.

Certainly one who gives alcohol to a minor, thus causing the minor to commit a misdemeanor, has aided or abetted in the commission of the misdemeanor and has therefore also committed a crime.

In addition to being a principal in the first degree, under Section 777.011, the defendant has also contributed to the delinquency of a minor. Section 827.04(3) provides:

Any person who commits any act which thereby causes or tends to cause or encourage any person under the age of 18 years to become a delinquent or dependent child, as defined under the laws of Florida, or which contributes thereto, or any person who shall, by act, threats, commands, or persuasion, induce or endeavor to induce any person under the age of 18 years to do or to perform any act, to follow any course or conduct, or so to live, as would cause or tend to cause such person years to become or to under the age of 18 remain a dependent or delinquent child, as defined under the laws of this state, is guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree,

Section 39.01(8) provides that a delinquent child is one who has committed a felony or a misdemeanor.

Defendants, by serving alcohol to a minor, have thus committed two separate misdemeanors. They are principals in the first degree to the misdemeanor involving possession of alcohol by a minor, and they have contributed to the delinquency of a minor.

If the legislature had not intended to make a social host responsible it would have used vendor instead of person and would not have said "sells or furnishes". In Neu v. Miami Herald Publishing Company, 462 So.2d 821 (Fla. 1985), the Court stated on page 825:

...In construing legislation, courts should not assume that the legislature acted pointlessly....

The language of the statute involved in the present case could not be more clear. In <u>State v. State Racing Commission</u>, 112 So.2d 825 (Fla. 1959), this Court said on page 828:

...one of the cardinal rules of statutory construction is that where the language of a statute is so plain and unambiguous as to fix the legislative intent and leave no room for construction, admitting of but one meaning, courts in construing it may not depart from the plain and natural language employed by the legislature.

In an analogous situation, where the meaning of the precise language of a statute was in controversy, in <u>Lee v.</u>

<u>Gulf Oil Corporation</u>, 4 So.2d 868 (Fla. 1941), this Court stated on page 870:

... If it was not the intention of the legislature to make the Act apply to filling stations where any merchandise except gasoline and petroleum products were sold, then the learned members of that august body would certainly have used some other language, or would have left out the word "exclusively" in

the passage of the Act. See Smith v. State, 80 Fla. 315, 85 So. 911; State v. Tunnicliffe, 98 Fla. 731, 124 So. 279. If the language of the statute is plain and clear, and free of ambiguity so as to be susceptible of but one meaning, then it becomes the duty of the courts to follow the plain meaning of the statute and not to depart therefrom....

Defendants argued below that the legislative history is persuasive that the legislature did not intend this statute to apply to social hosts. The legislative history does not support defendant's argument. Moreover it is well-established that where the wording of a statute is clear, the legislative history is irrelevant. Volunteer State Life Insurance Co. v. Larson, 2 So.2d 386 (Fla. 1941) and Rinker Materials Corporation v. City of North Miami, 286 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1973).

COMMON LAW LIABILITY OF SOCIAL HOST

Even if this Court concludes that Section 768.125 does not apply to social hosts, liability need not be based solely on the statute. The modern trend is to hold the social host liable based on ordinary negligence.

In Migliore, supra, this Court stated on page 979:

We agreed with the holding and rationale of the Second District in Prevatt. Providing alcoholic beverages to minors involves the obvious foreseeable risk of the minor's

intoxication and injury to himself or a third person. (Emphasis added)

In Linn v. Rand, 140 N.J. Super. 212, 356 A.2d 15 (1976) the issue, as in the instant case, was whether a social host who furnished intoxicating liquors to a minor could be held liable for the intoxicated minor's negligent acts which caused injury to a third party. The New Jersey Supreme Court held that a social host could be held liable on the theory of negligence:

[P]laintiff should be given his day in court to prove that (a) Rand was a minor, (b) Nacnodovitz knew she was a minor, knew she intended to drive her car, and nevertheless served her alcoholic beverages to the degree that she was unfit to drive, and (c) it was reasonably foreseeable that Rand might injure herself, or others, and that his negligence was a proximate cause of the accident and plaintiff's injuries. It makes little sense to say that the licensee in Rappaport [v. Nichols, 156 A.2d 1, 31 N.J. 188 (1959)] is under a duty to exercise care, but give immunity to a social host who may be guilty of the same wrongful conduct merely because he is unlicensed.

Our courts have not hesitated to place responsibility for tortious acts upon the person committing the wrong, nor have they refrained from removing old common doctrines which granted immunity Why should a social host be given wrongdoers. the special privilege of immunity from liability if he acts negligently with resulting harm to others?

* * *

Applying the philosophy expressed above to the facts in this case, a jury might well determine that a social host who serves excessive amounts of alcoholic beverages to a visibly intoxicated minor, knowing the minor was about to drive a car on the public highways, could reasonably foresee or anticipate an accident or injury as a reasonably foreseeable consequence of his negligence in serving This becomes devastatingly of apparent in view the ever-increasing incidence of serious automobile accidents resulting from drunken driving. 356 A.2d at 18, 19.

In <u>Sutter v. Hutchings</u>, 254 Ga. 194, 327 S.E. 2d 716 (1985) the defendant hostess served alcoholic beverages at her seventeen year-old daughter's party. This is exactly the same factual situation as in the present case, a party for high school students with alcohol being served. A minor quest, Christopher Turner, became intoxicated at the party, drove away in his car, and killed plaintiff's decedent, The Georgia Supreme Court recognized that David Sutter. historically there has been no cause of action under these decided circumstances, but henceforth there would liability, stating:

> [W]here one provides alcohol to a noticeably intoxicated 17 year old knowing that he will soon be driving his car, it is foreseeable to the provider that the consumer will drive while intoxicated jury would and a authorized to find that it is foreseeable to the provider that the intoxicated driver may That is to say, a jury would injure someone. be authorized to find that providing alcohol noticeably intoxicated 17 year automobile driver was one of the proximate causes of the negligence of the driver and of the injures to the deceased. Id. at 719

The court concluded:

Finally, we pose this question: Which is the more valuable right, the right to serve alcohol to one's underage high school friends, or the right not to be killed by an intoxicated underage driver? There is no right to serve alcohol to one's underage high school friends.

* * *

[W]e hold that a jury, under appropriate instructions, would be authorized to find that a person who encouraged another, who was noticeably intoxicated and under the legal drinking age, to become further intoxicated and who furnished to such other person more alcohol, knowing that such person would soon be driving a vehicle, is liable in tort to a person injured by the negligence of such intoxicated driver. <u>Id.</u> at 720.

In <u>Kelly v. Gwinnell</u>, 96 N.J. 538, 476 A.2d 1219 (1984) the New Jersey Supreme Court extended the common law even further. In that case, the court held a social host liable for serving liquor to an <u>adult</u> guest who became drunk and injured a third person in an automobile accident.

The court recognized that New Jersey had no statutes imposing liability on the provider of alcoholic beverages, and common law liability had previously been extended to a social host only where the guest was a minor. Nevertheless, it imposed liability on the defendant host, based on negligence:

A reasonable person in Zak's position could foresee quite clearly that this continued provision of alcohol to Gwinnell was making it more and more likely that Gwinnell would not be able to operate his car care-Zak could foresee that unless stopped providing drinks to Gwinnell, Gwinnell was likely to injure someone as a result of the negligent operation of his car. The usual elements of a cause of action for negligence are clearly present: an action by defendant creating an unreasonable risk of harm to plaintiff, a risk that was clearly foreseeable, and a risk that resulted in an injury equally foreseeable. Under those circumstances the only question remaining is whether a duty exists to prevent such risk or, realistically, whether this Court should impose such a duty. 476 A.2d at 1222.

The court concluded that such a duty did exist based on public policy:

Unlike those cases in which the definition of desirable policy is the subject of intense controversy, here the imposition of a duty is both consistent with and supportive of a social goal—the reduction of drunken driving—that is practically unanimously accepted by society.

While the imposition of a duty here would go beyond our prior decisions, those decisions not only point clearly in that direction but do so despite the presence of social considerations similar to those involved in this case--considerations that are claimed to invest the host with immunity. Id.

Finally, the court commented on the lack of statutory authority for its decision:

We do not agree that the issue addressed in this case is appropriate only for legislative resolution. Determinations of the scope of duty in negligence cases has traditionally been a function of the judiciary....

* * *

We are satisfied that our decision today is well within the competence of the judiciary. Defining the scope of tort liability has traditionally been accepted as the responsibility of the courts. Indeed, given the courts' prior involvement in these matters, our decision today is hardly the radical change implied by the dissent but, while significant, is rather a fairly predictable expansion of liability in this area. Id. at 1223, 1226, 1228.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court, has recently held that a social host may be liable when he serves a minor guest alcoholic beverages. In Koback v. Crook, 123 Wis.2d 259, 366 N.W.2d 857 (1985) the court explained that the fault principle applicable to a negligent liquor vendor is equally applicable to a social host because both stem from the same negligent conduct. See also Wiener v. Gamma Phi Chapter of Alpha Tau Omega Fraternity, 258 Or. 632, 485 P.2d 18 (1971) wherein the Oregon Supreme Court recognized the common law liability of a social host for the negligent furnishing of alcohol to a minor when the host knew the minor would be driving.

It cannot be argued that every element of negligence is not present where the defendants gave a party in their home in which alcohol is served to minors in violation of the law. Nor can it be argued that reducing drunk driving is important. The trend in the United States is to recognize a right of recovery against those who negligently furnish alcoholic beverages, especially to minors. It is difficult to conceive of an issue which could be more timely than the one presented in this case. The statute plainly provided for the imposition of liability and other states are imposing liability under ordinary negligence principles, even without a statute such as ours.

CONCLUSION

The decision of the Fourth District should be reversed.

ARNOLD GREVIOR CHARTERED 100 Southeast Sixth Street Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (305) 462-8394and RALPH PELAIA, JR. 633 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (305) 525-1700 and LARRY KLEIN, of KLEIN & BERANEK, P.A. Suite 503 - Flagler Center 501 South Flagler Drive West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (305) 659-5455

FOYLARRY KLEIN