IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 68,281

EDMUND CARL BANKSTON and MARY: BANKSTON, his wife, and LORI BANKSTON, a minor child, :

Petitioners,

-vs-

FRANCIS J. BRENNAN, JR., BRIAN FRANCIS BRENNAN and STEVEN LADIKA,

Respondents.

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR SI 1986

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

RESPONDENT, STEVEN LADIKA'S, ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

:

REX CONRAD, ESQ.
VALERIE SHEA, ESQ.
CONRAD, SCHERER & JAMES
Attorneys for Respondent Ladika
633 South Federal Highway
Post Office Box 14723
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33302
Telephone: (305) 462-5500

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

The bill dates back to the 1980 session of the Florida legislature. In its initial draft, the bill (A. 1-2) is entitled, "An act relating to the Beverage Law; creating s. 562.51, Florida Statutes" and in substance begins: "Section 562.51, Florida Statutes, is created to read" The language of then-designated Proposed Committee Bill 19 is nearly identical to the language of section 768.125. It is important to bear in mind that this bill was proposed after decisions such as <u>United Services Automobile Association v. Butler</u>, 359 So.2d 498 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978). <u>Butler</u> and like cases held

that, notwithstanding use of the word "person," section 562.11 applied only to vendors.

It follows, therefore, that, in describing the bill as an addition to Chapter 562, the drafters intended its application to be exclusively to vendors and those acting for vendors, i.e., their agents. This interpretation is supported by the fact that the bill originated in the Committee on Regulated Industries and Licensing, which concerns itself with the liquor industry. The Committee's staff analysis (A. 3) describes the bill's impact as reducing premiums paid by alcoholic beverage licensees for liability insurance, and mentions difficulties licensees were having in obtaining liability coverage.³

Proposed Committee Bill 19 was unanimously approved in the Subcommittee on Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco and in the full Committee. (A. 4-5) The intended placement of the bill, its origination in the particular committee, and the staff reference to insurance problems strongly suggest that this was a measure proposed by the liquor industry, intended to define and limit its liability. The language of the bill further supports this construction, as it is phrased in the negative:

Although the staff analysis describes the bill as applying to private citizens, as does the staff report done for the Governor (A. 10), we believe this description to be an error on staff's part, or, in any event, a presumed intent the legislature contradicted.

there <u>shall</u> <u>not</u> be liability, <u>except</u> in two specific circumstances.⁴

The most telling aspect of the history is its revelation that the legislature rejected a proposal to extend liability to social hosts. The bill progressed from committee to the Senate. (A. 6) There it passed, still as section 562.51, but with an amendment adding this sentence: "It is the intent of the Legislature that this provision applies to any person including, but not limited to, private party hosts as well as licensees under chapter 562."

Had the bill been signed into law with this amendment, there would be no question that the statute was intended to reach private party hosts. However, the amendment adding this provision was defeated by the House of Representatives. The <u>Journal of the House of Representatives</u> indicates that an

⁴ Courts and commentators have acknowledged this as the motivation behind the bill. As one critic notes:

Apparently realizing the problem with standard dram shop acts, Florida has elected to follow a different path—a statute that limits the civil liability for those selling liquor even more than did the common law. Under section 768.125, unless a purveyor of alcohol willfully dispenses liquor to a minor or known alcoholic, no person injured by the purchaser can sustain a cause of action against the purveyor.

Richmond, <u>Vicarious Liability of Purveyors of Liquor for the Torts of Their Drunken Minor Patrons</u>, 13 Stetson L. Rev. 267, 271 (1984).

"amendment to the amendment" was adopted which eliminated the final sentence. (A. 6) The bill, without the social host provision, passed in the House by a 105-3 vote, to be later signed into law.

In the legislative process it is common for controversial amendments to be tacked on to more routine matters, and just as common for these attempts to fail. The fact that an amendment applying the statute to social hosts was proposed and then voted down defeats any argument that the legislature intended the statute to be a broad imposition of liability on private party hosts. To the contrary, this chronology shows that the legislature had the opportunity to enact such a measure, and refused to do so. ⁵

The final piece of legislative history available is a report on the bill, following its passage, by a member of the Governor's staff. (A. 10) This report characterizes the fiscal effect as

It is extremely unlikely that, as plaintiffs argued below, this sentence was merely eliminated as redundant. Other states passing such statutes have pointedly included clarifying language, and emphasis of the scope of the statute would seem to be in order if the legislature had actually intended to enact a dramatic reform measure. Presumably, the legislature is aware of the canon that requires strict construction of any statute derogating from common law and would have realized the need to make any remedial intent particularly clear.

No effect on government. Could possibly reduce premiums paid by beverage licensees for liability insurance. Reportedly, some licensees are experiencing difficulty in obtaining liability coverage and premiums have been increasing in recent years.

Surely, if the bill were intended to create an entirely new area of social host liability, there would have been some mention of this in the statement of effect prepared for the Governor.

In any event, the legislature passed the bill as an addition to Chapter 562, and voted down the amendment which would have extended the scope of the statute to social hosts. Had the bill been codified in Chapter 562, as intended, it would have flowed quite logically from section 562.11, and its intended scope would have been clear:

It is unlawful for any person to sell, give, serve, or permit to be served alcoholic beverages to a person under 19 years of age or to permit a person under 19 years of age to consume said beverages on the licensed premises. Anyone convicted of a violation of the provisions hereof shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as provided for in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083.

A person who sells or furnishes alcoholic beverages ... shall not thereby become liable ... except that a person who willfully and unlawfully sells or furnishes alcoholic beverages to a person who is not of lawful drinking age ... may become liable for injury or damage caused by or resulting from the intoxication of such minor or person.

The law's eventual placement in Chapter 768, rather than in Chapter 562 as it was enacted, is apparently attributable to the Revision Committee, which is authorized by section 11.242, Florida Statutes (1981) to make decisions regarding placement of particular statutes. In this instance, the revisioner's exercise of discretion ran afoul of the legislature's intent, and complicated an inquiry which would have been rendered unnecessary had the statute been codified in Chapter 562.

C. Section 768.125 and its History Demonstrate the Legislature's Intent to Occupy the Field.

Section 768.125 and its history incisively reveal the legislature's intent to control decisions relating to civil liability for conduct of intoxicated persons. The legislature spoke on this subject when it expressly defined, through section 768.125, the standard for and scope of vendors' liability.

By virtue of the limited remedy it has enacted, the legislature has effectively preempted the area. The need for restraint in such circumstances was acknowledged in Lone Star v. Cooper, 408 So.2d 758 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982). There the court rejected an invitation to create a malum prohibitum cause of action based on a municipal ordinance which prohibited serving alcoholic beverages to an obviously intoxicated person. It held, in essence, that a municipality cannot assume to create a civil cause of action when to do so would be inconsistent with the common law and a statute on the subject.

Clearly, the common law in Florida recognizes no cause of action against a social host. Lone Star, 408 So.2d at 759; Butler, 359 So.2d at 500. Plaintiffs' statutory construction argument requires the court to ignore section 768.125's legislative history and resort to bootstrapping vague, unrelated criminal statutes in order to satisfy that section's requirement of unlawful service. The language of the statute is not clear and unequivocal, as a statute derogating from common law must be. City of Pensacola v. Capital Realty Holding Co., Inc., 417 So.2d 687 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Moreover, plaintiffs' position is inconsistent with the legislature's obviously conservative view towards civil liability for conduct of intoxicated persons.

It is impossible to reconcile the legislative history with the intent that plaintiffs and their amicus ascribe to section 768.125. If the legislature intended to impose an entirely new species of civil liability on the unsuspecting citizenry, it certainly would not have foisted it on them in such oblique fashion. Moreover, it is unlikely that this great expansion of liability would have been kept so secret that it is only now, in 1986, that the supreme court has an opportunity to consider it. Plaintiffs' contentions are unsupported by the language of the statute and its history. They are further undercut by this court's previous treatment of section 768.125, discussed in the section which follows.

D. This Court's Previous Interpretations of Section 768.125 Refutes Plaintiffs' Argument that it Creates a Statutory Cause of Action Against Social Hosts.

This court has construed section 768.125 several times. In the process, the court has made eminently clear that section 768.125 does not create a cause of action for third persons against dispensers of intoxicants, including private party hosts, for injuries caused by intoxicated minors. Rather, section 768.125 operates as a limitation on the liability vendors already were subject to by virtue of section 562.11. Specifically, section 768.125 eliminated the possibility that vendors may be liable for a merely negligent sale of an alcoholic beverage to a minor who subsequently injures a third party. Migliore v. Crown Liquors, Inc., 448 So.2d 978 (Fla. 1984); Barber v. Jensen, 450 So.2d 830 (Fla. 1980); Armstrong v. Munford, Inc., 451 So.2d 480 (Fla. 1984).

In <u>Migliore</u>, the supreme court held that a vendor who sells intoxicating beverages to a minor, contrary to section 562.11, is liable to third persons injured by the minor's operation of a car. In examining the legislative history of section 768.125, the supreme court defined its scope:

Moreover, contrary to the Fourth District's holding in the present case that Section 768.125 creates a cause of action for third persons against dispensers of intoxicants for injuries by intoxicated minors, we find that Section 768.125 is a limitation on the

liability of vendors of intoxicating beverages.

Section 768.125, Fla. Stat. (1981) provides:

A person who sells or furnishes alcoholic beverages to a person of lawful drinking age shall not thereby become liable for injury or damage caused by or resulting from the intoxication of such person, except that a person who willfully and unlawfully sells or furnishes alcoholic beverages to a person who is not of lawful drinking age or who knowingly serves a person habitually addicted to the use of any or all alcoholic beverages may become liable for injury or damages caused by or resulting from the intoxication of such minor or person.

When the legislature enacted this statute, it was presumed to be acquainted with the judicial decisions on the subject, including <u>Davis</u> and <u>Prevatt</u>. Moreover, the <u>leg-</u> <u>islative intent that this statute limit the</u> existing liability of liquor vendors is clear from its enacting title which reads: "An act relating to the Beverage Law; creating s. 562.11, Florida Statutes [codified as s. 768.125] providing that a person selling or furnishing alcoholic beverages to another person is not thereby liable for injury or damage caused by or resulting from the intoxication of such other person; providing exception; providing an effective date.

As this quote shows, section 768.125 did not create a new and separate cause of action, apart from section 562.11. Rather, the Migliore/Barber/Armstrong trilogy endorses the view that section 768.125 was enacted to tighten the requirements for a suit against a vendor. Prior to the effective date of

section 768.125, a merely negligent sale could give rise to liability on a vendor's part. <u>Barber v. Jensen</u>, 450 So.2d 830 (Fla. 1980). If the accident occurred <u>after</u> the effective date of section 768.125, the plaintiff must prove that the vendor willfully sold alcohol to a minor. <u>Armstrong v. Munford, Inc.</u>, 451 So.2d 480 (Fla. 1984). The <u>Armstrong</u> court noted:

We also stated, however, that although section 768.125 did not <u>create</u> a cause of action for third persons against dispensers of intoxicants for injuries caused by intoxicated minors, it does constitute a <u>limitation</u> on the already existing liability of vendors of intoxicating beverages.

Id. at 481. This interpretation was again confirmed in <u>Forlaw v. Fitzer</u>, 456 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1984). There the court refused to acknowledge liability on the part of a doctor who prescribed Quaaludes to a known drug addict. Section 562.11, it conceded, recognized a cause of action in a somewhat analogous situation; however, section 768.125 "limited the cause of action previously recognized by the courts." <u>Id</u>. at 433-34.

Barnes v. B. K. Credit Services, Inc., 461 So.2d 217 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), relied on by plaintiffs for the proposition that section 768.125 creates new remedies, does not advance the inquiry in this case. The First District was meeting a challenge that the statute violated an adult plaintiff's access to courts because she was not within the scope of sections 562.11 and 768.125. In upholding the constitutionality of section 768.125, the court noted that this was an exception to the rule of non-

liability, carved out for minors, and therefore not a denial of any rights to adults. It does not follow that private party hosts, as well as vendors, are covered within the statute.

Although, as plaintiffs and their amicus point out, this court has discussed section 768.125 only with reference to vendors, it would be inconsistent for the court to construe it as intended to limit vendors' liability, and at the same time as creating a whole new cause of action against private party hosts. The court's prior analysis does not appear susceptible to such a dichotomous construction.

The combined effect of section 768.125's language, its legislative history and this court's earlier interpretations leave no doubt that section 768.125 did not create far-reaching liability on the part of social hosts, but instead, qualified the preexisting liability of vendors. The question certified by the District Court of Appeal should be answered in the negative.

POINT II

THE COURT SHOULD NOT RECOGNIZE A COMMON-LAW CAUSE OF ACTION IN PLAINTIFFS' FAVOR.

There are procedural and substantive reasons why this court should not recognize a common-law cause of action in plaintiffs' favor.

A. <u>The Question is not Properly Presented in this Appeal.</u>

It is axiomatic that a court can only answer questions which are properly presented to it, and which are necessary to the determination of the case. Shands Teaching Hospital and Clinics, Inc. v. Smith, 11 F.L.W. 81 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 30, 1985) (Barfield, J., concurring). The question of whether a common-law cause of action should be created is not properly presented in this appeal. Although plaintiffs initially pled a common-law cause of action, their appeal confined itself to the question of whether liability existed pursuant to section 768.125. This was the only issue argued to and ruled on by the district court, and the only question certified to this court. By failing to present the common-law question to the intermediate court, plaintiffs have waived their right to seek its adjudication in this forum. See Stewart v. Mack, 86 So.2d 143 (Fla. 1956) (point not argued in brief abandoned); Polyglycoat Corporation v. Hirsch Distributors, Inc., 442 So.2d 958 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) (issue cannot be raised for first time on rehearing).

B. Limits on the Court's Power, Expressions of Legislative Intent and Policy Considerations Militate Against Judicial Creation of a Cause of Action.

In a recent concurring opinion, Judge Barfield of the First District Court of Appeal undertook a scholarly analysis

of the contours of a court's power to alter the common law. Shands Teaching Hospital and Clinics, Inc. v. Smith, 11 F.L.W. 81 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 30, 1985). His analysis offers enlightenment in the instant case, for it acknowledges the pressures courts are under to reform "anachronistic" common-law precepts, and emphasizes the importance of resisting those pressures.

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